
 
Agenda compiled by: 
Constitution & Corporate Governance 
Civic Hall 
 

 
Helen Gray 
247 4355 

 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

A 

 

 

 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY PANEL 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic  Hall Leeds on 

Tuesday, 3rd March, 2009 
at 10.00 am 

 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

Councillors 
 
 

S Armitage 
 
J Dowson 
 
J Dunn 
 
V Morgan 
 
B Selby 
 

R D Feldman 
(Chair) 
 
G Wilkinson 

C Townsley 
 
D Wilson 
 

T Grayshon 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST INSPECTION OF 
DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting) 
 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information 

 
 
 

 



 

C 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes) 
 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To declare any personal/prejudicial interests for the 
purpose of Section 81(3) of the Local Government 
Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
 

 

5     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES 
 
To confirm the minutes of the last meeting held on 
18th November 2008 as a correct record 
 
(Copy attached) 
 

1 - 6 

7   
 

  INFORMATION REPORT - RESULTS OF 
ENGLISH COMPREHENSION TESTING 
UNDERTAKEN BY THOMAS DANBY COLLEGE 
 
To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Corporate Governance) providing 
information on the results of English 
comprehension testing provided by Thomas Danby 
College  
 
(Report attached) 
 
 
 

7 - 14 



 

D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

8   
 

All Wards  INFORMATION REPORT –  
1) INFORMATION REPORT ON CHANGES TO 
VEHICLE INSPECTION ENFORCEMENT 
POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES AND 
PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS;  
 
2) INTERIM REPORT ON PROPOSALS TO 
CHANGE THE "AGE CRITERIA" CONDITION 
UPON HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE 
SALOON AND PEOPLE CARRIER VEHICLE 
LICENCES 
 
To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Corporate Governance) setting out the 
following 
 

a) proposals to change the Vehicle Inspection 
Enforcement Policy and Procedures 
relating to Hackney Carriage Vehicles; 
Private Hire Vehicles and Private Hire 
Operators 

 
b) proposals to change the age criteria 

condition in relation to Private Hire and 
Hackney Carriage saloon and people 
carrier vehicle licences 

 
(Report attached) 
 

15 - 
36 

9   
 

  QUARTERLY REPORT  OF THE TAXI AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING SECTION (JULY TO 
SEPTEMBER 2008) 
 
To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Corporate Governance) on the work of 
the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section 
covering the July to September 2008 quarter 
 
(Report attached) 
 
 

37 - 
40 



 

E 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

10   
 

  QUARTERLY REPORT OF THE TAXI AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING SECTION 
(OCTOBER TO DECEMBER 2008) 
 
To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Corporate Governance) on the work of 
the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section 
covering the October to December 2008 quarter 
 
(Report attached)  
 
 

41 - 
46 

11   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
To note the date and time of the next meeting as 
Tuesday 5th May 2009 at 10.00 am 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 6th January, 2009 

 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY PANEL 
 

TUESDAY, 18TH NOVEMBER, 2008 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R D Feldman in the Chair 

 Councillors S Armitage, J Dunn, 
T Grayshon, V Morgan, B Selby, D Wilson 
and C Townsley 

 
IN ATTENDANCE 

Mr K Darch – Principal Engineer, LCC Highways Services 
 Mr D Broster – Section Head, LCC Taxi & Private Hire Licensing 
 Ms S Robinson – LCC Taxi & Private Hire Licensing 
 Mrs D Mather-Walsh – Taxi & Private Hire Licensing  
 Mr M DePlacido – LCC Taxi & Private Hire Licensing 
 Mr M Johnson – LCC Taxi & Private Hire Licensing 
 Mr B Heptinstall – Hackney Carriage Trade Representative 
 Mr K Gill – Hackney Carriage Trade Representative 
 Mr A Pennock – Private Hire Trade Representative 
 Mr A Ali – Hackney Carriage Trade Representative 
 Mr Rauf – Hackney Carriage Trade Representative 
 
17 Late Items  

The Chair accepted one formal late item of business onto the agenda for 
consideration at the meeting. The report “NVQ & BTEC Testing – further 
information report” had been despatched to all Members prior to the meeting 
and provided the most up to date information  on the issue for the Panel 
(minute 24 refers) 
 
Members also noted that informal item of business would be discussed at the 
end of the meeting (minute 25 refers) 
 

18 Declarations of Interest  
There were no declarations of interest 
 

19 Apologies for Absence  
Apologies for absence were received from Mr T McSharry, Access Committee 
for Leeds; and Councillors Dowson and Wilkinson 
 

20 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 2nd September 2008 
be agreed as a correct record 
 

21 Taxi Rank Review Phase II - Update Report  
Further to minute 6 of the meeting held 1st July 2008 the Chief Highways 
Officer submitted a progress report on the ongoing review of existing taxi 
ranks and implementation of new/amended ranks within the city centre and 
throughout the city of Leeds 
 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 6

Page 1



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 6th January, 2009 

 

Attached to the report was a schedule of rank locations proposed by the 
Hackney Carriage (HC) Trade which included a précis of subsequent 
discussions between the Trade and Highways Services and actions taken. 
The Panel was also in receipt of an A1 size plan indicating the location of 
existing; new and proposed ranks and a further copy was displayed at the 
meeting 
 
Mr Darch and the Panel discussed progress made on the following issues 
raised at previous meetings: 
Boar Lane/Mill Hill/New Station Street – highways works to alter the junction 
now completed and had reduced congestion as it provided a right turn lane for 
taxis attempting to turn into New Station Street. Officers were awaiting a 
response from the Railway Station management regarding plans to review 
station access. Members expressed continuing concern about stacking of 
taxis awaiting the right turn into New Station Street as the station was still 
regarded by drivers as the most lucrative spot. The Panel noted that with the 
review of existing and implementation of new ranks, the ground had been laid 
for more usable and accessible ranks throughout the city centre and urged the 
Trade to fully utilise these 
 
New ranks – no adverse comments had been received during the consultation 
period and the proposals would now be put to Highways Board in December 
2008 for approval. Advertisement of the proposals was intended for 
January/February 2009 
 
Elland Road – informally, METRO had responded positively to the suggestion 
to use Lowfield Road bus stops however no formal response been received. 
Members noted an outline planning application had been submitted which 
proposed the redevelopment of the Lowfield Road area which may have some 
bearing on a response from METRO  
 
Other ranks – proposed amendments to Whitehouse Lane and Roundhay 
Road were being investigated by the Department but further liaison with the 
trade was necessary 
 
Government Office – Mr Darch reported that no response had been received 
regarding approval could for bus stops to be used as taxi ranks after bus 
services had finished for the night. Mr Darch had first lodged this enquiry in 
November 2007 
 
Signage – Mr Darch displayed an A3 size representation of the new more 
visible taxi rank signage to be introduced 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report and the comments made by 
Panel be noted and the progress made so far be welcomed 
 

22 Matter Arising - Leeds Bradford International Airport  
Following on from the discussions on the taxi rank review, the Panel and 
representatives of the HC Trade discussed issues arising from the change of 
management at Leeds Bradford International Airport contract (LBIA)  and the 
impact of the loss of the LBIA contract on the Leeds HC Trade. In particular: 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 6th January, 2009 

 

 
Access – Trade representatives and Members expressed concern over 
unsatisfactory car park and access arrangements. Taxis were not permitted 
close to the terminal building therefore HC passengers were required to 
negotiate car parks with their luggage in order to enter the terminal. The Panel 
felt this appeared to prevent safe access to the terminal for all passengers 
and presented a particular problem to wheelchair users and people with 
disabilities. 
 
Ranks – the Trade expressed their ongoing anger that the airport 
management had clearly marked out “taxi rank” to the front of the terminal – 
which was in fact only for use by the contracted Private Hire firm. Attempts 
had been made to discuss the incorrect use of the term “taxi”, along with other 
issues relating to HC vehicle access and safe transportation of passengers to 
the terminal, but no response had been received. Mr Broster and Mr 
Littlewood also reported on their unsuccessful attempts to engage the 
Airport’s representatives. 
 
Direct action – Representatives of the Trade reported that due to the lack of 
response from LBIA and the strength of feeling within the trade, it was likely 
that direct action would be taken 
 
The Panel, noting the comments of the Trade, was keen to arbitrate between 
the Trade  and LBIA and offered to arrange to meet with LBIA management in 
order to highlight the concerns of the HC Trade and those of the Panel 
regarding access to the airport in general and in particular for less able 
passengers. Members also suggested a site visit to the Airport to enable 
Members to better understand the issues reported by the Trade. The Chair 
sought volunteers to accompany him on a visit to meet with LBIA managers 
and requested the Trade allow him time to undertake this prior to any possible 
action they may take. The Chair confirmed he would report directly to Trade 
representatives on the outcome. Representatives of the Trade welcomed the 
offer made and agreed to convey this proposal to drivers and to delay any 
action for a week 
RESOLVED – That Councillor Feldman and Councillor Dunn, along with 
appropriate officers, make arrangements to meet with representatives of LBIA 
to discuss the matters raised by the Trade. 
 

23 Group 2 Medical Report  
The Panel considered the report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate 
Governance) setting out proposals for the adoption of the Group 2 Medical 
standard for Private Hire (PH) and Hackney Carriage (HC) drivers. It was 
noted this standard was already implemented by the Driver Vehicle Licensing 
Authority (DVLA) for some categories of drivers within the transport and 
passenger service industry bus and lorry drivers, and other local authorities 
had adopted the standard for licensed PH and HC drivers 
 
The report included a copy of the existing medical examination form for 
reference and a copy of the Group 2 Medical form for comparison. Appendix 
C contained the C1 criteria for insulin treated diabetes which was also 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 6th January, 2009 

 

proposed to be adopted to enable licensed drivers and new applicants with 
insulin treated diabetes to continue driving 
 
The Panel noted that adoption of the Group 2 Medical would ensure the 
fitness of drivers and provide a safeguard for passengers and the industry. 
Members further noted the comments of the Trade regarding the testing 
regime 
RESOLVED –  

a) That the Group 2 Medical standard for fitness to drive Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire vehicles be adopted in accordance with the 
DVLA and Department for Transport best practice guidance 

b) That the Group 2 Medical standard policy be applied to 

• All new PH and HC driver applications 

• All existing HC or PH drivers at the point of renewal of their 
existing licence  

• Renewals of existing licences 

• Those drivers who attain 65 years of age during the lifetime of a 
HC or PH drivers licence 

c) That Group 2 Medical reports only be accepted from the applicants 
own doctor, or another doctor in the same practice 

d) That where a Group 2 Medical has already been carried out for any 
other purpose, the Council will accept that – but it must cover the entire 
period of the licence being granted 

e) That the C1 criteria for insulin treated diabetes be adopted in relation to 
HC and PH Drivers (as outlined at Appendix C) 

f) To note that officers undertake to inform existing licence holders of 
these changes by way of a Newsletter to be sent to every licensed 
driver 

g) That the commencement date of this decision be approved as 1st 
February 2009 to enable reasonable arrangements to be made by 
licensed drivers 

h) That Panel authorise officers to deal with any subsequent amendments 
or changes to the policy or Conditions under Delegated Powers 

 
24 LATE ITEM - NVQ & BTEC Testing - Further Information Report  

The Panel considered a late report submitted by the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Corporate Governance) providing the most up to date information on events 
since the introduction of NVQ and BTEC testing for all licensed HC and PH 
drivers. This report was submitted at the request of the Chair to inform 
Members of the uptake of the training and setting out the strategy for 
promoting the benefits of the training 
 
Officers reported that implementation of the testing had been broadly 
welcomed by the Trades, and over 600 drivers had undertaken the test 
voluntarily. The Chair had attended a recent event organised to present 
certificates to successful participants. 
 
It was reported that 4 training providers had been identified and Agreements 
were due to be signed in order to secure the necessary funding for the 
accreditation from central Government. The Panel noted the comment that 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 6th January, 2009 

 

some drivers may have commenced a course not organised by one of the 
recognised providers and suggested that this could be dealt with in due 
course. 
RESOLVED - To note the contents of the report and the success of the NVQ 
and BTEC regime so far 
 

25 Late Item - Presentation Mr B Heptinstall  
Following completion of the formal business on the agenda, Councillor 
Feldman reported this would be the final meeting attended by Mr B Heptinstall 
as a representative of the HC trade due to his retirement after 43 years 
service. Councillor Feldman, Councillor Dunn as previous Chair of the Panel 
and Mr D Broster made impromptu speeches and invited the Panel and 
members of the Trade, public and press present to join them to express their 
thanks to Mr Heptinstall for his invaluable contributions to the work of the 
Panel and officers. Members noted and congratulated Mr Heptinstall on his 
unblemished driver and proprietor history. The Chair presented Mr Heptinstall 
with a certificate celebrating his career and a framed copy of his original 
licence application  
 

26 Date and Time of the Next Meeting  
RESOLVED – To note the date and time of the next meeting as Tuesday 6th 
January 2009 at 10.00 am 
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 
Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) 
 
To the Licensing and Regulatory Panel 
 
Date: 3rd March 2009 
 
Subject: INFORMATION REPORT – RESULTS OF ENGLISH COMPREHENSION 
TESTING UNDERTAKEN BY THOMAS DANBY COLLEGE 
 

        
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
Members have previously approved the introduction of English Comprehension testing prior 
to the grant of a Private Hire / Hackney Carriage driver licence and in other certain 
circumstances. 
 
This report sets out the assessment statistics from December 2007. 

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Ethnic minorities 
  
Women 
 
Disabled people  

Electoral Wards Affected:   
 
                
                               All 

 

ü 

 

 

Agenda Item:  
 
Originator: Des Broster  
 

Tel: 2143366 

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
 
1.1 To keep Members informed of the assessment results that Thomas Danby College 

undertake on behalf of the Council. 
 
2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2.1 The Licensing and Regulatory Panel previously approved the introduction of English 

Comprehension testing prior to the grant of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 
driver licence and in certain other cases. 

 
2.2 Testing has been taking place in line with the Licensing and Regulatory Panels 

approval. 
 

3.0 MAIN ISSUES 
 
3.1  There appears to consistent thread in terms of failure rates which justifies not only 

the introduction of the testing but also retention of the policy to continue with this 
requirement. 
 

3.2 Members should be aware that on failure the applicant is offered training options 
which will assist them to improve their language skills and ultimately obtain a licence 
from this Council. 

 
4.0  IMPLICATIONS FOR COUNCIL POLICY AND GOVERNANCE 
 

None 
 
5.0 LEGAL CONSULTATION AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The justification for imposing this Condition remains proportionate based on these 

results. 
 
5.1 The précis of the results will be published in the Spring Newsletter 2009. 
 
6.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
6.1 It is considered that this policy remain as a Condition prior to the grant of a licence 

as it appears to contribute to improved levels of service and safety for the travelling 
public of Leeds. 

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 That Members note the report and make any comments they think appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



                                                                                                                

1 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Taxi and Private Hire Skills 
Assessment Report 

 
December 2008

Page 9



                                                                                                                

2 

 

 
 

Assessment Statistics December 2007-November 2008 
 

Month by Month 
 
December 2007 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 64 n/a 

Attended 55 86% 

Did not attend 9 14% 

Passed 55 100% 

Failed 0 0% 

Referred to course 6 11% 

 
January 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 86 n/a 

Attended 81 94% 

Did not attend 5 6% 

Passed 77 95% 

Failed 4 5% 

Referred to course 9 11% 

 
February 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 89 n/a 

Attended 82 92% 

Did not attend 7 8% 

Passed 76 93% 

Failed 6 7% 

Referred to course 12 15% 

 
 
 
 

Page 10



                                                                                                                

3 

 

 
March 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 67 n/a 

Attended 60 89.5% 

Did not attend 7 10.5% 

Passed 55 92% 

Failed 5 8% 

Referred to course 9 15% 

 
 
April 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 107 n/a 

Attended 99 92.5% 

Did not attend 8 7.5% 

Passed 92 93% 

Failed 7 7% 

Referred to course 15 15% 

 
May 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 65 n/a 

Attended 58 89% 

Did not attend 7 11% 

Passed 53 91% 

Failed 5 9% 

Referred to course 9 15% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



                                                                                                                

4 

 

 
June 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 85 n/a 

Attended 78 92% 

Did not attend 7 8% 

Passed Assessment 72 82% 

Failed Assessment 6 8% 

Referred to course 10 13% 

 
 
July 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 83 n/a 

Attended 78 94% 

Did not attend 5 6% 

Passed Assessment 71 91% 

Failed Assessment 7 9% 

Referred to course 9 11.5% 

 
August  2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 64 n/a 

Attended 59 92% 

Did not attend 5 8% 

Passed Assessment 51 86% 

Failed Assessment 8 14% 

Referred to course 13 22% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



                                                                                                                

5 

 

September 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 126 n/a 

Attended 118 94% 

Did not attend 8 6% 

Passed Assessment 108 91.5% 

Failed Assessment 10 8.5% 

Referred to course 11 9% 

 
October 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 109 n/a 

Attended 104 95% 

Did not attend 5 5% 

Passed Assessment 95 91% 

Failed Assessment 9 9% 

Referred to course 12 11.5% 

 
November 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 87 n/a 

Attended 77 88.5% 

Did not attend 10 11.5% 

Passed Assessment 70 91% 

Failed Assessment 7 9% 

Referred to course 8 10% 

 
Total December 2007-November 2008 
 

 Number  Percentage Rate 

Total number 1032 n/a 

Attended 949 92% 

Did not attend 83 8% 

Passed Assessment 875 92% 

Failed Assessment 74 8% 

Referred to course 123 13% 

Page 13



                                                                                                                

6 

 

 

Page 14



Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) 
 

To the Licensing and Regulatory Panel 
 

Date: 3rd March 2009 
 

Subject:  
1. INFORMATION REPORT - CHANGES TO VEHICLE INSPECTION ENFORCEMENT 

POLICY & PROCEDURES – HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES & 
PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS 

 
2. INTERIM REPORT – PROPOSALS TO CHANGE THE ‘AGE CRITERIA’ 

CONDITION UPON HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE SALOON & PEOPLE 
CARRIER VEHICLE LICENCES  

 

        

 
Executive Summary 
 
Based upon the results of an inspection schedule of licensed Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire vehicles by age group during 2006, 2007 and 2008 an ‘information report’ has been 
prepared for Members detailing the operational and administrative changes which will be put 
into place to deal with issues of non compliance by vehicle Proprietors and drivers and a 
change to the existing ‘inspection and advice’ policy. 
 
The link of accountability between Proprietors, drivers, Operators and Hackney Carriage 
Associations in respect of pre-booked journeys where a defective vehicle is used is clearly 
set out in the legislation highlighted. This accountability will be pursued, where appropriate, 
as part of the operational enforcement procedures. 
 
Part two; the interim report advises Members of initial proposals arising from the inspection 
findings to reduce the existing maximum ‘age criteria’ on licensed Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire vehicles from eight years to six years from the date of original registration of the 
vehicle. This proposal is still subject to consultation and will be brought back to the May 
meeting of Licensing and Regulatory Panel for determination. 
 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  

Ethnic minorities 
  
Women 
 
Disabled people  

Electoral Wards Affected:   
 
                
                               All 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item:  

 
Originator: Des Broster  
 

Tel: 2143366 

Agenda Item 8

Page 15



 
1.0   PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
 
1.1 To keep Members informed of operational and administrative changes in respect of 

the transfer of vehicle Proprietors licence, the inspection of licensed Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire vehicles: the chain or responsibility between Proprietors, 
drivers, Operators and Hackney Carriage Associations and the operational decision 
to make Operators and Hackney Carriage Associations accountable for their use of 
defective vehicles. 

 
1.2 To enable Members to be aware of the research undertaken during the past three 

years (Appendix A) and to advise Members of proposals to lower the maximum 
‘age criteria’ on licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire saloon and people 
carrier vehicles in terms of appropriateness and proportionality.  

 
2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2.1 Leeds City Council took responsibility for all Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

licensing matters in 1978 when it adopted Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976. The then responsible Licensing Committee 
created a set of Conditions which it thought appropriate to place on Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire vehicle licences at that time. The following years have 
seen significant changes and Conditions have evolved, gradually and extensively, 
particularly so in recent years.  

 
2.2 Over the last four years there has been a significant increase in service provision by 

the Private Hire sector and at the same time the expectations of the public have 
increased. Following consultation with the Private Hire trade, new Conditions have 
been implemented or agreed, and step by step the Private Hire vehicle Conditions 
have been updated. The same applies in respect of the Hackney Carriage vehicle 
Conditions. The proposed changes further advance administrative and operational 
enforcement issues addressing public safety and service issues. 

 
2.3 The operational changes very clearly direct attention to the responsibilities of 

Private Hire Operators and Company Secretaries of Hackney Carriage Associations 
when using vehicles on pre-booked journeys. 

 
2.4 The operational and administrative changes, along with the proposed ‘age criteria’ 

Condition change, reflect on the results of the inspection policy to date. These 
results also bring into focus the need for the Council to consider its statutory 
responsibility in respect of the safety of licensed vehicles, along with their 
mechanical condition and comfort.  

 
2.5 The existing ‘age criteria’ Condition imposed upon licensed vehicles is set out at 

Part 2 – Age Criteria  of the Private Hire licensing Conditions and is reproduced 
below: - 

 
 AGE CRITERIA 

 
(a) The age of a vehicle, for licensing purposes, shall be determined by the date 

of first registration on the V5 document (Log Book.) A vehicle will only be 
accepted for licensing if the date of first registration is less than 5 years from 

Page 16



the date of application. The vehicles must be licensed for use within one 
month from the date of application. 

 
(b) Where a currently licensed vehicle does not meet the requirements of part 

2a) that vehicle will continue to be re-licensed for up to 8 years from the date 
of first registration, providing that all other licensing requirements relating to 
that vehicle have been complied with and that the licence is renewed before 
the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section’s last working day of the month 
of expiry of the licence. Any break in the licence will result in part (a) of this 
Condition coming into effect. 

 
2.6 An identical Condition exists in respect of Hackney Carriage saloon and wheelchair 

accessible vehicles (there is a difference in respect of wheelchair accessible 
Hackney Carriage vehicles but that relates to the point of licensing for the first time 
and is not affected by any changes outlined in Part 1 and Part 2 of this report.)  

 
 AGE CRITERIA – HACKNEY CARRIAGE WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE VEHICLES 

 
 3.1  In the case of a first application, vehicles must not be more than one year old, 

taken from the date of first registration, the vehicle having being registered within 
twelve months of the date of its manufacture. 

 
 3.2  In the case of an application for a renewal of a licence, vehicles must normally not 

be more than eight years old, taken from the date of first registration, unless found 
to be in exceptional condition with regard to the vehicles age, condition of the 
bodywork and interior. 

 
 3.3  Once licensed, if the vehicle sustains accident damage, vandalism or theft, a 

vehicle up to five years old, taken from the date of first registration, may be 
licensed as a replacement vehicle for the duration of that licence, subject to the 
age, condition of the bodywork and interior of the vehicle. 

 
 3.4  Vehicles may be replaced, at the discretion of the Proprietor, during the duration of 

the vehicle licence. Such vehicles must normally not be more than five years old at 
the date of application, taken from the date on which the vehicle was first 
registered. 

 
 3.5  All vehicle licences will normally expire at the end of the month of the anniversary 

date of the vehicle reaching its eighth year, unless found to be in exceptional 
condition. 

 
 AGE CRITERIA – HACKNEY CARRIAGE SALOON VEHICLES 

 

2.1 Subject to those vehicles which are considered to be in exceptional condition by an 
Authorised Officer with regard to vehicle age, condition of the bodywork and interior: 

 
2.1.1 Any vehicle which is more than eight years old (taken from the date on which 

it was first registered) will not normally be licensed, unless found to be in 
such an exceptional condition. 

 
2.1.2 All vehicle licences will normally expire at the end of the month of the 

anniversary date of the vehicle reaching its eighth year (taken from the date 
on which it was first registered), unless found to be in such an exceptional 
condition. 

 

Page 17



2.2 Vehicles may be replaced, at the discretion of the Proprietor, during the duration of 
the vehicle licence. Such vehicles must normally not be more than five years old at 
the date of application, taken from the date on which the vehicle was first registered. 

 
2.7 Section 48 (2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, sets 

out the powers available to the council to impose such a Condition and the 
opportunity by an aggrieved Proprietor to appeal to the Magistrates Court against 
the imposition of such a Condition upon the vehicle licence (an extract of all 
relevant Sections of this Act referred to in this report is set out at Appendix B.) 

 
2.8 Section 48 (1) (a) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, 

sets out that a District Council’ shall grant a vehicle licence to a Private Hire vehicle 
on application ‘provided that a District Council shall not grant such a licence unless 
they are satisfied that’: - 

 
(a) that the vehicle is: 
 

(iii) in suitable mechanical condition 
(iv) safe, and  
(v)  comfortable’ 

 
2.9 These key areas of legislation are highlighted in particular to Members to 

demonstrate the statutory requirements and to indicate that they remain an 
enforcement issue for the Council throughout the lifetime of the vehicle licence. It is 
this part of the Act that underpins the Council’s enforcement policy and Conditions. 

 

  3.0 MAIN ISSUES 
 
 PART 1 – Changes to vehicle inspection and enforcement policy and 

procedures – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicle licences: - 
 
3.1 Vehicle Transfer Policy – all licensed Private Hire or Hackney Carriage vehicles 

will be required to undertake a formal inspection at the time of transfer from one 
Proprietor to another along with a Hire Purchase Information (HPI) check. 

 
3.2 Section 49 (1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, 

allows 14 days from the notification of such a transfer to take place. The Licensing 
Section encourages Proprietors to do this immediately. There have been examples 
of Proprietors purchasing licensed vehicles which have failed subsequent 
inspections and left new Proprietors in financial difficulties with a vehicle that 
required substantial further investment. 

 
3.3 To encourage greater responsibility on the part of sellers and purchasers of 

licensed vehicles, there will be a policy change which will involve the immediate 
suspension of an existing vehicle licence unless it has, within the 28 days 
proceeding notification of transfer, undertaken and passed an MOT inspection or 
formal inspection at these premises. The original MOT certificate must be presented 
to the Council at the point of transfer. 

 
3.4 Any licensed vehicle which does not have the requisite MOT certificate or a Leeds 

City Council formal inspection pass, as described at 3.3, will remain suspended until 
it has successfully passed a formal inspection by an Authorised Officer of the 

Page 18



Council. A vehicle which satisfies this requirement could be able to be taken into 
immediate use pending a formal inspection. 

 
3.5 Prosecution Policy – the Licensing Section issues formal rectification and 

suspension notices to vehicle Proprietors within its inspection facility for a wide 
range of mechanical faults or non-compliance to its licence Conditions. All of the 
Vehicle Examiners are qualified to MOT inspection standards and are also qualified 
vehicle technicians with extensive experience.  

 
3.6 The high failure rate at inspections indicates a significant lack of on-going 

maintenance by some vehicle Proprietors and drivers. Whilst there may be a 
number of reasons for this, it does not dilute the responsibility of a Proprietor, driver, 
Operator or Hackney Carriage Association of a licensed vehicle that they are 
responsible, in law, to comply with all aspects of a vehicles road worthiness in 
accordance with Construction & Use regulations and associated legislation whilst 
on a public road. The position is the same in respect of Conditions upon the 
vehicles licence. 

 
3.7 Failure to maintain a vehicle to a road worthy standard and to the Conditions by a 

Proprietor places not only the public at risk but also the driver. It should not be 
overlooked that a licensed Operator or Hackney Carriage Association has a 
significant liability by dispatching a defective vehicle to a client. Neglect on the part 
of a vehicle Proprietor has a potential impact on a range of people. 

 
3.8 The preference will remain that, where appropriate, Proprietors, drivers, Operators 

and Hackney Carriage Associations will be made aware of defects and given the 
opportunity to contribute to remedying the defect and preventing future 
occurrences. However, where there is clear evidence of an obvious, dangerous 
defect (e.g. tyre tread levels, handbrake not holding) which are probably indicative 
of a neglect to follow the manufacturer’s service schedule, then prosecution may 
follow. For information some case law examples are set out at Appendix C.  

 
3.9 Vehicle Inspections / Attendance Administration - The figures at Appendix A 

reveal that some Proprietors fail to produce their licensed vehicle for inspection 
when required. It is sometimes the case that the Proprietor does not attach the 
necessary importance to that requirement. There are other reasons, but the most 
concerning is that the Proprietor has no intention of producing the vehicle for 
inspection and is difficult to locate.   

 
3.10 There will be a procedural change in how the Section deals with failures to attend 

for vehicle inspections. The financial impact of this will fall upon the vehicle 
Proprietor concerned and the ascending scale of charges will be representative of 
the level of administration required. The policy and procedural change is set out at 
Appendix D, with the exception of fees which, when finalised, will be published in 
accordance with the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976.  

 
3.11 Following the Licensing and Regulatory Panel meeting hearing this report it is 

intended to place these operational and administrative changes on media screens 
in the Licensing Office, in the ‘Spring Newsletter’, on the Council’s website and by 
sending ‘flyers’ to Operator and Hackney Carriage Association bases. It is not 
intended to commence this policy for at least three months to enable any 

Page 19



representations to be considered and to enable Proprietors, drivers, Operators and 
Hackney Carriage Associations to make appropriate adjustments. 

 
 PART 2 – Proposals to change the ‘age criteria’ Condition placed upon 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire saloon and people carrier vehicle 
licences:- 

 
3.12 The information contained in Appendix A is also relevant to this proposal to change 

the ‘age criteria’ Condition as set out in Part 2 (b) of the Private Hire vehicle (saloon 
and people carrier) Conditions and also the Hackney Carriage vehicle Conditions.  

 
3.13 The points made in respect of Part 1 of this report in terms of legislation are also 

relevant to this part of the report. The proposals are not in conflict with Department 
for Transport best Practice Guidance at Appendix E. 

 
3.14 It is considered that the impact of the following proposal will only adversely affect 

those licensed Proprietors or drivers who do not undertake a proper maintenance 
and servicing schedule as set out in the manufacturer’s handbook and who do not 
follow the advice of motoring organisations in respect of vehicle care, for example at 
Appendix F. 

 
3.15 Neither the vehicle inspection facility of the Licensing Office nor an MOT testing 

station are intended to be ‘fault finders’ for vehicle owners who seek only to identify 
the essential faults to enable them to pass a vehicle inspection or MOT inspection 
with minimum investment. This practice clearly assists the Proprietor to avoid 
responsibility for maintaining a vehicle in safe and road worthy condition throughout 
the whole year. All licensed vehicles should be the subject of a service and 
maintenance plan in accordance with the manufacturer’s advice which is adhered to 
by the driver / Proprietor. There is no acceptable or legal reasoning that a 
Proprietors financial position may not support this view. 

 
3.16 It should be emphasised that if a vehicle is properly maintained and serviced in 

accordance with the manufacturers instructions it will have the capability to be 
successful within the inspection and licensing regime, and to be licensed beyond 
the six years. This seems to be the case where there has been a requirement for 
greater financial investment in a vehicle (e.g. wheelchair accessible vehicles), but 
that might also be aided by the more utilitarian design of those vehicles.  

 
3.17 In creating such a Condition on a licence the Council is, in effect, setting out its 

policy and concerns to deal with its statutory responsibility. Because it is policy, 
discretion can be applied in considering individual cases. That has been the case 
for some years in respect of the existing ‘age criteria’ which has benefited 
wheelchair accessible vehicles in particular.  

 
3.18 The current procedure for making such an exception is called ‘the exceptional 

condition policy’ and is set out at Appendix G. This would be raised to a maximum 
age of 8 years from the date of first registration in respect of saloon and people 
carrier vehicles. 

 
3.19 The purpose of the ‘exceptional condition’ policy is to enable those vehicles which 

are in exceptional condition for their age, mileage and usage, to continue to be 

Page 20



licensed because they are able to demonstrate a proper level of investment, 
maintenance and care by the Proprietor.  

 
3.20 The ‘exceptional condition’ policy has been and will remain available to all licensed 

vehicles should the proposed Condition be introduced and the Proprietor follows the 
correct procedure.  

 
3.21 To minimise the financial impact on existing Proprietors of vehicles it is proposed 

that those vehicles currently licensed with this Council will be subject to the existing 
‘age criteria’. This proposed change would not take effect unless the vehicle licence 
has expired or is sought to be transferred. Again it is proposed that the 
implementation of the policy would be deferred for three months to enable all of the 
information to be properly circulated to licensed vehicle Proprietors, as set out at 
3.12.  

 
3.22 To balance this exception to the proposed Condition in terms of safety it is 

proposed to introduce an inspection policy which requires every vehicle attaining six 
years from date of first registration to be formally inspected at the point of re-
licensing and up to twice a year during the currency of its licence. 

 
3.23 There will be continued monitoring of inspection results for vehicles of all ages and 

further proposals to encourage improvements in the duty of care may be presented 
to Members affecting Conditions and testing requirements. It is anticipated the 
schedule of inspections covering all age groups will be completed during summer 
2009. 

 
4.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR COUNCIL POLICY AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
4.1 None 
 
5.0 LEGAL, CONSULTATION AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Extracts of the relevant Acts and Sections, along with the existing Conditions, have 

been set out for easy reference in each appropriate part of the report. Following 
legal advice Members would need to decide that the proposed changes to policy 
are both fair and proportionate. Members are reminded that they will not be asked 
to make a decision on the age criteria condition until May 2009. 

 
5.2 Consultation – open invitations have been sent to all licensed Operators on a 

number of occasions to discuss the vehicle inspection results and consider 
proposals to deal with the high rate of ‘failures’. There was a poor attendance in 
terms of numbers but significant contributions in terms of ideas and views on how to 
deal with the policy. It has to be said there was shock and concern from all of those 
who saw the figures, and also a distinct concern in accepting liability for using 
defective vehicles in the course of their business. 

 
5.3 It is proposed to engage with existing vehicle Proprietors, drivers, Operators and 

Hackney Carriage Associations so that they are aware of the concerns of the 
Council and how these changes would affect them and also give them a further 
opportunity for feedback before making a final decision. This would be achieved by 
use of media screens in the Licensing Office, in the ‘Spring Newsletter’, on the 

Page 21



Council’s website and by sending ‘flyers’ to Operator and Hackney Carriage 
Association bases. 

 
6.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
6.1 Officers consider that the proposed policy and Condition changes will increase the 

level of safety and achieve a higher compliance to road safety issues and Council 
Conditions along with increasing the awareness for the necessity to regularly 
service and maintain vehicles within the public transport environment.  

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 Vehicle transfers – that Members note the policy changes set out at 3.1 - 3.4 and 

make any comments they think appropriate. 
 
7.2 Prosecution policy – that Members note the policy change set out at 3.5 - 3.8 and 

3.13 and make any comments they think appropriate. 
 
7.3 Vehicle inspection non attendance policy and procedure - that Members note the 

policy change set out at 3.9 - 3.11 and Appendix D and make any comments they 
think appropriate. 

 
7.4 Exceptional condition policy – that members note the policy set out at Appendix G 

and make any comments they think appropriate. 
 
7.5 Members note the intention to introduce an increase in inspection levels on those 

licensed vehicles which are six years or older after the date of first registration, and 
make any comments they think appropriate. 

 
7.6 That the Section Head Taxi and Private Hire Licensing be allowed to introduce the 

changes at 7.1 to 7.5 above no earlier that three months from the date of the 
meeting under delegated powers. 

 
7.7 That Members, note the interim report on the proposed Condition changes set out 

at 3.16 – 3.29, as a Condition upon Hackney Carriage and Private Hire saloon and 
people carrier vehicle licences and that further consultation is planned before the 
matter is brought back to Panel in May 2009 for a final decision.                   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



List of Appendices 

 

 
Appendix A 

 
Vehicle Inspection Results 

 
Appendix B 

 
Relevant Sections of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act, 1976 etc  

 
Appendix C 

 
Case Law – ‘use, cause, permit’ 

 
Appendix D 

 
Flow Chart – Vehicle Inspection Attendance Administration 

 
Appendix E 

 
DfT Best Practice Guidance 

 
Appendix F 

 
Motoring Organisations Advice 

 
Appendix G 

 
Exceptional Condition Policy  

 

 

Documents referred to: - 

 

‘How to Consult Your Users’ (HM Government Archive Document – Service First) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



Appendix A 

VEHICLE INSPECTION RESULTS – 6 /7+ Years 

Hackney Carriage Vehicles    

 
 

Vehicles 
Required 
To Attend 

 
Passed 

Test 

 
Failed 
Test 

 
Vehicle 

Suspended 

 
Licence 
Revoked 

 
Licence 

Surrendered 

 
Failed to 
Attend 

Actual 
Volume 

 
115 

 
27 

 
45 

 
23 

 
0 

 
7 

 
13 

 
% 

  
23.5% 

 
39.1% 

 
20.0% 

 
0% 

 
6.1% 

 
11.3% 

 

Attended at a later date (vehicles that failed to attend on first request) 

Actual 
Volume 

 
11 

 
1 

 
6 

 
3 

 
0 

 
1 

 
0 

 
% 

  
9.1% 

 
54.5% 

 
27.3% 

 
0% 

 
9.1% 

 
0% 

 

Private Hire Vehicles     

 
 

Vehicles 
Required 
To Attend 

 
Passed 

Test 

 
Failed 
Test 

 
Vehicle 

Suspended 

 
Licence 
Revoked 

 
Licence 

Surrendered 

 
Failed to 
Attend 

Actual 
Volume 

 
740 

 
138 

 
230 

 
78 

 
32 

 
45 

 
217 

 
% 

  
18.7% 

 
31.1% 

 
10.5% 

 
4.3% 

 
6.1% 

 
29.3% 

 

Attended at a later date (vehicles that failed to attend on first request) 

Actual 
Volume 

 
192 

 
14 

 
66 

 
22 

 
8 

 
82 

 
0 

 
% 

  
7.3% 

 
34.4% 

 
11.5% 

 
4.2% 

 
42.6% 

 
0% 

P
a
g
e
 2

4



 

Appendix B 

 

Relevant Section of Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976 

 

48  Licensing of private hire vehicles  
 

(1)  Subject to the provisions of this Part of this Act, a district council may on the 
receipt of an application from the proprietor of any vehicle for the grant in 
respect of such vehicle of a licence to use the vehicle as a private hire 
vehicle, grant in respect thereof a vehicle licence: 

 
Provided that a district council shall not grant such a licence unless they are 
satisfied— 

 
(a) that the vehicle is— 
 

(i) suitable in type, size and design for use as a private hire vehicle; 
(ii) not of such design and appearance as to lead any person to 
believe that the vehicle is a hackney carriage; 
(iii) in a suitable mechanical condition; 
(iv) safe; and 
(v) comfortable; 

 
 

(2)  A district council may attach to the grant of a licence under this section 
such conditions as they may consider reasonably necessary including, 
without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing provisions of this 
subsection, conditions requiring or prohibiting the display of signs on or 
from the vehicle to which die licence relates. 

 

(3) In every vehicle licence granted under this section there shall be 
specified— 

 
(a) the name and address of — 

 
(i) the applicant; and 
(ii) every other person who is a proprietor of the private hire vehicle 
in respect of which the licence is granted, or who is concerned, 
either solely or in partnership with any other person, in the keeping, 
employing or letting on hire of the private hire vehicle; 
(b) the number of the licence which shall correspond with the 
number to be painted or marked on the plate or disc to be exhibited 
on the private hire vehicle in accordance with subsection (6) of this 
section; 
(c) the conditions attached to the grant of the licence; and 
(d) such other particulars as the district council consider reasonably 
necessary. 

 

Page 25



 
 

(4)  Every licence granted under this section shall — 
 

(a) be signed by an authorised officer of the council which granted it; 
(b) relate to not more than one private hire vehicle; and 
(c) remain in force for such period not being longer than one year as the 
district council may specify in the licence. 

 
(5)  Where a district council grant under this section a vehicle licence in respect 

of a private hire vehicle they shall issue a plate or disc identifying that 
vehicle as a private hire vehicle in respect of which a vehicle licence has 
been granted. 

 
(6) (a) Subject to the provisions of this Part of this Act, no person shall use or 

permit to be used in a controlled district as a private hire vehicle a vehicle in 
respect of which a licence has been granted under this section unless the 
plate or disc issued in accordance with subsection (5) of this section is 
exhibited on the vehicle in such manner as the district council shall 
prescribe by condition attached to the grant of the licence. 

 
(b) If any person without reasonable excuse contravenes the provisions of 
this subsection he shall be guilty of an offence. 

 
(7)  Any person aggrieved by the refusal of a district council to grant a vehicle 

licence under this section or by any conditions specified in such a licence, 
may appeal to a magistrates' court. 

 
Amendment 
Sub-s (I): words in square brackets in para (b) substituted by the Road Traffic 
(Consequential Provisions) Act 1988, s 4, Sch 3, para 16. 

 

 

49 Transfer of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles  
 

(1) If the proprietor of hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle in respect of 
which a vehicle licence has been granted by a district council transfers 
his interest in the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle to a person 
other than the proprietor whose name is specified in the licence, he shall 
within fourteen days after such transfer give notice in writing thereof to 
the district council specifying the name and address of the person to 
whom the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle has been transferred. 

 
(2) If a proprietor without reasonable excuse fails to give notice to a district 

council as provided by subsection (1) of this section he shall be guilty of 
an offence. 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



60  Suspension and revocation of vehicle licences  
 

(1) Notwithstanding anything in the Act of 1847 or in this Part of this Act, a 
district council may suspend or revoke, or (on application therefore under 
section 40 of the Act of 1847 or section 48 of this Act, as the case may 
be) refuse to renew a vehicle licence on any of the following grounds— 

 
(a) that the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle is unfit for use as a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle; 
(b) any offence under, or non-compliance with, the provisions of the Act 
of 1847 or of this Part of this Act by the operator or driver; or 
(c) any other reasonable cause. 

 
2)  Where a district council suspend, revoke or refuse to renew any licence 

under this section they shall give to the proprietor of the vehicle notice of 
the grounds on which the licence has been suspended or revoked or on 
which they have refused to renew the licence within fourteen days of 
such suspension, revocation or refusal. 

 
(3)  Any proprietor aggrieved by a decision of a district council under this 

section may appeal to a magistrates' court. 
 

68  Fitness of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles  
 

Any authorised officer of the council in question or any constable shall have power 
at all reasonable times to inspect and test, for the purpose of ascertaining its 
fitness, any hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licensed by a district council, 
or any taximeter affixed to such a vehicle, and if he is not satisfied as to the 
fitness of the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle or as to the accuracy of its 
taximeter he may by notice in writing require the proprietor of the hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle to make it or its taximeter available for further 
inspection and testing at such reasonable time and place as may be specified in 
the notice and suspend the vehicle licence until such time as such authorised 
officer or constable is so satisfied: Provided that, if the authorised officer or 
constable is not so satisfied before the expiration of a period of two months, the 
said licence shall, by virtue of this section, be deemed to have been revoked and 
subsections (2) and (3) of section 60 of this Act shall apply with any necessary 
modifications. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



Appendix C 

 

CASE NAME STATUTE REFERENCE SUBJECT BRIEF PRECIS OF DECISION 
FORCE OF 

AUTHORITY 

      

Crawford v 
Haughton 

Con & Use 
Regs,1986 

[1972] 1 All 
ER 535 

USE OF VEHICLE If an owner allowed another to use an unroadworthy vehicle he could 
be charged with causing or permitting its use. He could not, unless the 
driver was a direct servant of his be prosecuted for use of the vehicle 
but could be for permitting the use. 

Binding 

        

Bygraves 
and Dicker 

TPCA 1847, 
Ss 45-63 

[1923] All ER 
473 

VICARIOUS 
LIABILITY OF 
OWNER 

HCV Owner liable for acts of self-employed driver- Any party who is 
injured due to drivers negligence can obtain damages from vehicle 
owner. 

Binding 

        

Baker v 
Chapman 

Road Traffic 
Act 
1960,S127 

[1963] LGR 
527 

CAUSE, PERMIT 
OR USE 

An owner of vehicle uses it both when he drives it AND also when 
someone else does so on his instruction 

Binding 

        

Hallett 
Silberman 
Ltd v 
Cheshire 
C.C. 

S42 RTA 
1988[Con & 
Use Regs] 

[1993] 
RTR32, 
Times Law 
Reports 
[9/6/92] 

USER OF 
VEHICLE 

Where company employs self employed driver then Company may be 
regarded as USER of the vehicle and prosecuted accordingly. 

Binding 

        

R v 

MOHAMMED 

YAQOOB 

(2005) 

CRIMINAL 

EVIDENCE - 

ROAD 

TRAFFIC - 

SENTENCING 

CA (Crim 

Div) (Thomas 

LJ, Calvert-

Smith J, 

Recorder of 

Cardiff) 

26/8/2005  

MANSLAUGHTER 

BY GROSS 

NEGLIGENCE 

Entirely open to the jury to find that there was a duty to inspect and 
maintain beyond that required for an MOT test, council inspections and 
other duties imposed by regulation......It was incumbent on all 
operators of minicabs and minibuses to exercise due care to see that 
their vehicles were frequently inspected and well-maintained. Where, 
as in the instant case, a deterrent sentence was not required, a 
sentence of four years' imprisonment was more than within the general 
range of sentences for manslaughter by gross negligence due to a 
failure to properly maintain a minibus. 

  

 

P
a
g
e
 2

8



 Page 29



Appendix E 

Department for Transport 

(Taken from DfT Website) 

 

Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance 
 
Vehicles 
 
Specification of Vehicle Types That May Be Licensed 
 

18. The legislation gives local authorities a wide range of discretion over the types of vehicle that they 

can license as taxis or PHVs. Some authorities specify conditions that in practice can only be met by 

purpose-built vehicles but the majority license a range of vehicles. 

19. Normally, the best practice is for local licensing authorities to adopt the principle of specifying as 

many different types of vehicle as possible. Indeed, local authorities might usefully set down a range 

of general criteria, leaving it open to the taxi and PHV trades to put forward vehicles of their own 

choice which can be shown to meet those criteria. In that way there can be flexibility for new vehicle 

types to be readily taken into account. 

20. It is suggested that local licensing authorities should give very careful consideration to a policy 

which automatically rules out particular types of vehicle or prescribes only one type or a small number 

of types of vehicle. For example, the Department believes authorities should be particularly cautious 

about specifying only purpose-built taxis, with the strict constraint on supply that that implies. (There 

are at present only two designs of purpose-built taxi.) But of course the purpose-built vehicles are 

amongst those which a local authority could be expected to license. Similarly, it may be too restrictive 

to automatically rule out considering Multi-Purpose Vehicles, or to license them for fewer passengers 

than their seating capacity (provided of course that the capacity of the vehicle is not more than eight 

passengers). 

Imported vehicles: type approval (see also "stretched limousines", paras 26-28 below) 

21. It may be that from time to time a local authority will be asked to license as a taxi or PHV a 

vehicle that has been imported independently (that is, by somebody other than the manufacturer). 

Such a vehicle might meet the local authority's criteria for licensing, but the local authority may 

nonetheless be uncertain about the wider rules for foreign vehicles being used in the UK. Such 

vehicles will be subject to the 'type approval' rules. For passenger cars up to 10 years old at the time of 

first GB registration, this means meeting the technical standards of either: 

• a European Whole Vehicle Type approval;  
• a British National Type approval; or  
• a British Single Vehicle Approval.  

Most registration certificates issued since late 1998 should indicate the approval status of the vehicle. 

The technical standards applied (and the safety and environmental risks covered) under each of the 

above are proportionate to the number of vehicles entering service. Further information about these 

requirements and the procedures for licensing and registering imported vehicles can be seen at 

www.dft.gov.uk/stellent/groups/dft_roads/documents/page/dft_roads_506867.hcsp. 

Page 30



Vehicle Testing 

22. There is considerable variation between local licensing authorities on vehicle testing, including the 

related question of age limits. The following can be regarded as best practice: 

• Frequency of Tests. The legal requirement is that all taxis should be subject to an 
MOT test or its equivalent once a year. For PHVs the requirement is for an annual test 
after the vehicle is three years old. An annual test for licensed vehicles of whatever 
age (that is, including vehicles that are less than three years old) seems appropriate 
in most cases, unless local conditions suggest that more frequent tests are 
necessary. However, more frequent tests may be appropriate for older vehicles (see 
'age limits' below). Local licensing authorities may wish to note that a review carried 
out by the National Society for Cleaner Air in 2005 found that taxis were more likely 
than other vehicles to fail an emissions test. This finding, perhaps suggests that 
emissions testing should be carried out on ad hoc basis and more frequently than the 
full vehicle test.  

• Criteria for Tests. Similarly, for mechanical matters it seems appropriate to apply the 
same criteria as those for the MOT test to taxis and PHVs*. The MOT test on vehicles 
first used after 31 March 1987 includes checking of all seat belts. However, taxis and 
PHVs provide a service to the public, so it is also appropriate to set criteria for the 
internal condition of the vehicle, though these should not be unreasonably onerous.  

*A manual outlining the method of testing and reasons for failure of all MOT tested items can be 

obtained from the Stationary Office see 

www.tsoshop.co.uk/bookstore.asp?FO=1159966&Action=Book&From=SearchResults&ProductID=0

115525726  

• Age Limits. It is perfectly possible for an older vehicle to be in good condition. So the 
setting of an age limit beyond which a local authority will not license vehicles may be 
arbitrary and inappropriate. But a greater frequency of testing may be appropriate for 
older vehicles - for example, twice-yearly tests for vehicles more than five years old.  

• Number of Testing Stations. There is sometimes criticism that local authorities 
provide only one testing centre for their area (which may be geographically 
extensive). So it is good practice for local authorities to consider having more than 
one testing station. There could be an advantage in contracting out the testing work, 
and to different garages. In that way the licensing authority can benefit from 
competition in costs. (The Vehicle Operators and Standards Agency - VOSA - may be 
able to assist where there are local difficulties in provision of testing stations.)  

Security 

23. The owners and drivers of vehicles will often want to install security measures to protect the 

driver. Local licensing authorities may not want to insist on such measures, on the grounds that they 

are best left to the judgement of the owners and drivers themselves. But it is good practice for 

licensing authorities to look sympathetically on - or actively to encourage - their installation. They 

could include a screen between driver and passengers, or CCTV. Care however should be taken that 

security measures within the vehicle do not impede a disabled passenger's ability to communicate with 

the driver. Licensing authorities may want to encourage the taxi and PHV trades to build good links 

with the local police force, including participation in any Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships. 

There is extensive information on the use of CCTV, including as part of measures to reduce crime, on 

the Home Office web-site, www.homeoffice.gov.uk (and see for instance, 

www.crimereduction.gov.uk/cctv/cctvminisite4.htm). 

 

Page 31



Appendix F 

 

RAC Know How 
Motoring News 

 

(Taken from RAC Website) 

 

Drivers warned about cutting costs 

Motorists strapped for cash due to the economic downturn have been warned that scrimping 
on servicing their car could lead to bigger repair and maintenance bills in the long run. 

The significant rises in motoring costs due to rising fuel prices coupled with hikes in food and 
energy bills are affecting motorists' ability to keep vehicles maintained, the RAC has said. 

In a survey one in eight RAC car breakdown patrols (12%) said motorists are now less able 
to get vehicles serviced and one in ten (10%) have been told that members can not afford 
basic repairs to their cars. 

The problem is exacerbated by motorists failing to carry out basic maintenance themselves.  

According to RAC roadside rescue patrols, two thirds of drivers claim they do not have time 
to keep their cars maintained and six out of ten (62%) said they were scared to look under 
their bonnet. 

Iain Vale, RAC's patrol of the year, said: "When money is tight, it's always tempting to cut 
back on maintenance, but it's a false economy. As a dentist would say, prevention is always 
better than cure. 

"Vehicle manufacturer service schedules are designed to keep cars running both efficiently 
and safely which is why we're urging motorists to keep their cars regularly serviced - for the 
sake of their purses as well as their safety." 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 32



Appendix G 

 

EXEMPTION TO AGE POLICY TO A MAXIMUM OF 10 YEARS FROM THE DATE OF 
FIRST REGISTRATION 

 
 
Background to the Policy 
 
Leeds City Council operates an age criteria of eight years on Licensed Hackney Carriages 
and Private Hire vehicles. 
 
The policy is based on the consideration that the licensed vehicles are providing a public 
transport service and as such standards of safety are essential and the vehicle should be in 
exceptional condition for its use and mileage. 
 
The appearance of the vehicle, externally and internally, and the level of comfort and 
cleanliness it offers can adversely impact upon the image of the City of Leeds if the vehicle is 
shabby. 
 
It is also important that licensed vehicles have an acceptable emissions level. With the high 
mileage and wear and tear involved with licensed vehicles that level will be set to an 
attainable standard compatible with its age. 
 
To assess all these issues an Authorised Officer of the Council will conduct an extended 
inspection of the vehicle and assess it against a set criteria. 
 
 
Areas for Inspection 
 

• Emissions  

• Mechanical condition and service history  

• Equipment  

• Appearance, cleanliness & comfort 
 
The vehicle must pass all four areas of inspection to be licensed beyond the age criteria. 
 
 
How to Apply for an Exemption to the Council’s ‘vehicle Age Criteria’ 
 
To extend the licensing age of a vehicle a Proprietor should: - 
 

• Make a formal written application 
 

• Pay an extended inspection fee 
 

• Present the vehicle for an extended inspection by Authorised Officer at an appointed 
time 

 
The application should include the vehicles service history and all the official documents, 
bills, receipts to support the view that the vehicle is in exceptional condition. 
 
Please note that Officers need to be able to substantiate the technical abilities of a person 
carrying out repairs, the quality of replacement parts. They must also be able to determine 

Page 33



that any document etc presented can conclusively be attributed to work carried out on that 
licensed vehicle at a particular time in its working life. 
 
An appointment will be made to carry out the vehicle inspection. The inspection will take 
approximately 3 hours. 
 
The Officer conducting the test will examine the vehicle against a detailed check list of the 
areas identified above. 
 
Testing Standard 
 
The Officer will determine a score for each area of inspection, and as an example the testing 
standard for ‘Mechanical Condition’ is produced below: - 
 
 

 
Fail 

 
Probably beyond economical improvement to meet required standard. 
Indications of sustained neglect. 
 
Falls short and requires significant remedial attention. Has little service 
history. 
 

 
Improvement 

Notice 

 
Generally good but with areas for improvement. Has record of servicing with 
validity. 

 
Pass 

 
In excellent condition having substantial documentary evidence with 
continuity.  
 

 
Officers will inspect the other two areas for inspection to this same standard. 
 
If the licensed vehicle fails the test it is for the Proprietor to consider the cost effectiveness of 
bringing the vehicle to a condition that it can pass the inspection  
 
Please note 
 
If at the time of inspection the vehicle is considered to have serious deficiencies the Officer 
may issue a suspension notice.  
 
The applicant will be supplied with a copy of the inspection notice. 
 
The earliest an application will be received for an exemption to the criteria is not more than 
12 weeks prior to the expiration of its current licence. 
 
There will be a re-inspection fee set at an appropriate level and as amended from time to 
time. 
 
The vehicle will not be granted an extension to the age criteria until it has successfully 
passed the inspection process. The whole of this application, inspection and approval 
process must be completed prior to the expiration of the current vehicle licence. 
 
If successful an exception to the policy would be made for that vehicle for a period of twelve 
months. 

Page 34



 
If a subsequent application (i.e. at 9 years since date of manufacture) was to be made by the 
Proprietor the same procedures would apply. 
 
In the event of a third application for extension it is considered appropriate that the vehicle 
should have an emissions standard equivalent to a vehicle in the 0 – 5 year age group.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of the: Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) 
 
To the: Licensing and Regulatory Panel 
 
Date: 3rd March 2009 
 
Subject: QUARTERLY REPORT (JULY – SEPTEMBER 2008) OF THE TAXI AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING SECTION  
 

        
 

 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report details the licensing activity of the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section and 
the issues dealt with under delegated powers. 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
All 

Originator: Des Broster  
Legal, Licensing & Registration 
Tel: 0113 2143376  

 

 

 
 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report) 
  

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 37



1.0 Purpose Of This Report 
 
1.1 To provide information to Members of the Licensing and Regulatory Panel about 

licensing transactions undertaken by the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section. 
This report indicates licences that have been granted under Officers delegated 
powers in line with the Council’s Constitution and the terms of Reference of the 
Panel. 

 
2.0   Background Information 
 
2.1 Members will recall that a number of different licenses are dealt with by the Taxi and 

Private Hire Licensing Section in Legal and Democratic Services. Officers have 
delegated powers to make decision on licence applications and the suspension and 
revocation of licenses which, on appeal, are heard by the Magistrates Courts. 

 
3.0 Main Issues 
 
3.1 A breakdown of licensing transactions is attached at Appendix A. 
 
4.0 Implications For Council Policy And Governance 
 
4.1 None 
 
5.0  Legal And Resource Implications 
 
5.1 None 
 
6.0  Conclusions 
 
6.1 That matters have been appropriately administered within the terms of the 

Constitution. 
 
7.0 Recommendations 
 
7.1 That Members note the report. 
 
 

 

 

Page 38



APPENDIX A 
 

TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING 

LICENSING INFORMATION JULY – SEPTEMBER 2008 
 
 

 
 
 

 
TOTAL 

CURRENTLY 
LICENSED 

 
LICENCES 
RENEWED 

 
NEW 

LICENCE 
ISSUED 

 
TRANSFERS 

 
REFUSED 

 
SUSPENDED 

 
REVOKED 

 
PROSECUTIONS 

 
Hackney Carriage 
Driver 
 

 
1058 

 
300 

 
7 

   
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle 
 

 
537 

 
101 

 
48 

 
13 

  
23 

  

 
Private Hire Driver 
 

 
5227 

 
1266 

 
229 

  
7 

 
9 

 
7 

 
8 

 
Private Hire Vehicle 
 

 
5566 

 
700 

 
700 

 
242 

  
96 

 
1 

 

 
Permit Vehicle 
 

 
70 

 
8 

 
2 

     

 
Permit Driver 
 

 
849 

 
168 

 
34 

     

P
a
g
e
 3

9



 

Page 40



 

Report of the: Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) 
 
To the: Licensing and Regulatory Panel 
 
Date: 3rd March 2009 
 
Subject: QUARTERLY REPORT (OCTOBER – DECEMBER 2008) OF THE TAXI AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING SECTION  
 

        
 

 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report details the licensing activity of the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section and 
the issues dealt with under delegated powers. 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
All 

Originator: Des Broster  
Legal, Licensing & Registration 
Tel: 0113 2143376  

 

 

 
 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report) 
  

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 41



1.0 Purpose Of This Report 
 
1.1 To provide information to Members of the Licensing and Regulatory Panel about 

licensing transactions undertaken by the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section. 
This report indicates licences that have been granted under Officers delegated 
powers in line with the Council’s Constitution and the terms of Reference of the 
Panel. 

 
2.0   Background Information 
 
2.1 Members will recall that a number of different licenses are dealt with by the Taxi and 

Private Hire Licensing Section in Legal and Democratic Services. Officers have 
delegated powers to make decision on licence applications and the suspension and 
revocation of licenses which, on appeal, are heard by the Magistrates Courts. 

 
3.0 Main Issues 
 
3.1 Delegated Decisions 
 

Attached at Appendix B are changes or alterations to existing Conditions which 
have been made since the last report of this nature. 

 
3.2 A breakdown of licensing transactions is attached at Appendix A. 
 
4.0 Implications For Council Policy And Governance 
 
4.1 None 
 
5.0  Legal And Resource Implications 
 
5.1 None 
 
6.0  Conclusions 
 
6.1 That matters have been appropriately administered within the terms of the 

Constitution. 
 
7.0 Recommendations 
 
7.1 That Members note the report. 
 
 

 

 

Page 42



APPENDIX A 
 

TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING 

LICENSING INFORMATION OCTOBER – DECEMBER 2008 
 
 

 
 
 

 
TOTAL 

CURRENTLY 
LICENSED 

 
LICENCES 
RENEWED 

 
NEW 

LICENCE 
ISSUED 

 
TRANSFERS 

 
REFUSED 

 
SUSPENDED 

 
REVOKED 

 
PROSECUTIONS 

 
Hackney Carriage 
Driver 
 

 
1058 

 
287 

 
9 

   
2 

  
2 

 
Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle 
 

 
537 

 
137 

 
47 

 
17 

    

 
Private Hire Driver 
 

 
5227 

 
1105 

 
206 

  
8 

 
44 

 
4 

 
41 

 
Private Hire Vehicle 
 

 
5566 

 
823 

 
676 

 
219 

  
171 

 
3 

 

 
Permit Vehicle 
 

 
70 

 
19 

 
8 

     

 
Permit Driver 
 

 
849 

 
150 

 
25 

     

P
a
g
e
 4

3



Appendix B 

 

DELEGATED DECISION NOTIFICATION REF NO 
1
 

 

 

DEPARTMENT   
Legal Licensing & Registration – Taxi & Private Hire Licensing 
 

 

SUBJECT 
2
  

Delegate Approval of motor vehicles to be placed upon the ‘Approved List’  of Hackney Carriage 
saloons which may be licensed in the Leeds District 
 

 
 
COUNCIL  
FUNCTION  

 
EXECUTIVE 
DECISION   
(KEY) 
 

 
EXECUTIVE  
DECISION  
(MAJOR) 

 
EXECUTIVE  
DECISION  
(OTHER) 

 
NOT SUBJECT TO 
CALL IN 

 
4
EXEMPT FROM  

CALL IN:  YES / NO  

 
4
EXEMPT FROM  

CALL IN:  YES / NO 

 
NOT SUBJECT TO 
CALL IN 

 
DECISION 

3
 

 
The following vehicles were examined by the identified technically qualified Officer of the Council on 
the dates shown and considered safe and suitable to be licensed as Hackney Carrigaes 

 
VOLVO S60 D5 & 2.4D  

not sport 

04.02.2008 Phillip Hatch  
Acting Senior vehicle Examiner 

CHEVROLET EPICA 

1. 2.0 VCDi LS 

2. 2.0 VCDi LT 

3. 2.0 VCDi LT Auto 

 

24/06/2008 Phillip Hatch  
Acting Senior vehicle Examiner 

Volkswagen Passat 2005 

1.9 TDI  S & SE model 

2.0 TDI  S & SE model 

17/11/2008 Phillip Hatch  
Acting Senior vehicle Examiner 

Mercedes E class  

E200 CDI 

E220 CDI 

Not sport model 

25/11/2008 Phillip Hatch  
Acting Senior vehicle Examiner 

MAZDA 6 (not Sports Model) 02.08.2006 Martino DePlacido 
Senior Vehicle Examiner. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
  

                                                
1
 This reference number will be assigned by Governance Services and notified to you 
2
  A brief heading should be inserted  
3
  Brief details of the decision should be inserted. This note must set out the substance of the decision, options considered and the reason 

for deciding  upon the chosen option, although care must be taken not to disclose any confidential or commercially sensitive information. 
Guidance on the substance of the note is available from  Governance Services 

4
 For Key and Major decisions only.  If exempt from Call In details to be provided in the report. The Call In period expires at 5.00 pm on the 

5
th
 working day after publication.  Scrutiny Support will notify decision makers of matters called in by no later than 12.00 noon on the 6th 

day. 

 

X    

Page 44



AFFECTED WARDS  
All 

 

ADVICE SOUGHT    Yes   No 

Legal                    �    x 

Finance                    �    x 

Personnel                                    �    x 

Equal Opportunities                   �    x 

Other (please specify)                �    x 
 

 

DECLARED OFFICER  / 
MEMBER INTERESTS

5
 

 
None 

 

DISPENSATION BY 
STANDARDS 
COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: ………………………………………………….. 

 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

6
 

None 

 

CONFIDENTIAL 
REPORT 

YES    NO   x  RULE NO 10.4
7
  (     ) 

                              Yes    No                      Date 

DETAILS OF 
CONSULTATION 
UNDERTAKEN 
(OTHER REASONS/ 
ORGANISATIONS  
CONSULTED) 

Executive Member               �        x                            ________________ 

Ward Councillors                �        x              ________________ 

Chief Officers Affected           �                                             ________________ 

Others (Specify)               x        �                      As indicated on inspection chart    
Hackney Carriage Association members                                                                 earlier                                                              

  

 

CONTACT PERSON  
Des Broster 

 CONTACT NO 2143376 

 
AUTHORISED 
SIGNATORY

8
 

 

DATE 
 
25.11.08 

 
KEY MAJOR OTHER 

9
  *First publication (5 day 
notice)  

   

 Commencement for Call 
In
 

   

 Last date for Call In    

 Implementation Date    

 

* If key decision not on Forward Plan, the reason and need that the decision be taken are 
that: 

 

                                                
5
   No officer having a pecuniary interest in any matter should take a decision in relation to that matter. Other interests of a  non-
disqualifying nature should be recorded here. 

6
  A separate Index should  be prepared if necessary. ALL DOCUMENTATION UPON WHICH THE DECISION WAS BASED MUST BE 
RETAINED AND BE READILY ACCESSIBLE SO IT CAN BE PRODUCED SHOULD THE DECISION BE CHALLENGED 

7
   Access to Information Procedure Rules 
8
  The signatory must be duly authorised by the Director  to make the decision in accordance with the Department’s scheme.   
     It is not acceptable for the signature to be ‘pp’ for an authorised signatory. For Key Decisions only, the date of the authorised signature 
signifies that, at the time, the Officer was content that the decision should be taken.  However, should representations be received 
following public availability of reports the signatory will consider the effect which such representations should have upon the final 
decision. 

9
 Governance Services will enter these dates 
 

 

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	7 Information report - Results of English Comprehension Testing undertaken by Thomas Danby College
	FINAL Taxi Assess rpt (Thos Danby) - Appendix A

	8 Information Report - 1) Information Report on Changes to Vehicle Inspection Enforcement Policy and Procedures for Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Vehicles and Private Hire Operators; 2) Interim Report on Proposals to change the "Age Criteria" condition upon Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Saloon and People Carrier Vehicle Licences
	9 Quarterly Report  of the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section (July to September 2008)
	10 Quarterly Report of the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section (October to December 2008)

